1954

# Marriner W. Merrill Family Foundation, Inc v. The State Tax Commission of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

This Matter is before the Court on a Writ of Cer-  
tiorari.

The plaintiff, the Marriner W. Merrill Family Foun-  
dation, Inc., was duly and regularly incorporated under  
the Laws of the State of Utah as a non-profit organiza-

tion on September 7, 1950. Subsequent to this incorporation, the Corporation Franchise Tax Section of the State Tax Commission of Utah did, on or about October 24, 1950, assess against this corporation the minimum franchise tax in the amount of \$10.00.

The plaintiff filed a protest and petition with said Commissioner and requested a re-determination, which said petition culminated in a hearing before a legally constituted quorum of the Commission on the 13th day of August, 1953, in a proceeding entitled "IN THE MATTER OF THE CORPORATION FRANCHISE TAX HEARING OF MARRINER W. MERRILL FAMILY FOUNDATION, INC."

On April 1, 1954, the said Commission issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision whereby the said Commission found that the Marriner W. Merrill Family Foundation, Inc. was a taxable corporation under Title 59, Chapter 13, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, that the Marriner W. Merrill Family Foundation, Inc. was not organized and operated exclusively for religious, charitable, scientific, literary, or educational purposes and the net earnings can inure to a private shareholder or individual and therefore said corporation was adjudged to be a corporation which does not come within any of the exemptions provided in Title 59, Chapter 13, Section 4, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. As a result of this determination, the plaintiff filed its petition of Writ of Certiorari on April 28, 1954, with the Writ being made returnable May 18, 1954.

At the formal hearing before the State Tax Commissioner there was introduced in evidence the Affidavit of Incorporation (Tax Commissioner's Exhibit No. 1), the By-Laws of the Foundation, (Taxpayer's Exhibit "A"), and oral testimony.

The purpose of the Foundation, as set forth in the Affidavit of Incorporation, is as follows:

"\* \* \* for the purpose of receiving by gift, devise, bequest, or otherwise, money or credits, and other items of real and personal property, and to invest and reinvest the same and to apply the income therefrom, together with so much of the principal thereof as may be deemed necessary and advisable for loaning or otherwise advancing money and property, on such terms as the Board of Directors may determine, to any and all descendents and husbands or wives of such descendents of Marriner W. Merrill, whether or not such person is a member of said corporation, for the educational uses in any school, college, university, or special training institutions, in any part of the world and without in any way limiting or restricting the general purposes hereinbefore stated, to aid and assist financially or otherwise in the training of any member of the family, whether the same be a direct descendent or by marriage, in the acquiring of scholastic training and educational advancement in religious, literary, scientific, artistic, professional, vocational or smiliar branches of learning, conditioned only upon the control of the assets of said Corporation for the aforesaid uses thereof by the Directors of said Corporation; \* \* \*."

The By-Laws of the Foundation were admitted as Taxpayer's Exhibit "A" (T. 15). The portions specifically applicable to the question herein are:

Article One, Section Two, -

"Said Foundation shall receive and accept from any member or any other person, either by gift, devise, bequest, or otherwise, any money, credit, or other types of real or personal property, all of which shall be handled and managed by the Board of Directors as hereinafter recited and for the uses and purposes of this corporation:"

Article Four, Section Nine, -

"The Board of Directors may appoint a special committee with power to accept contributions and to act upon all applications of prospective students for loans or other assistance from the Foundation, and such committee's decision in such matters shall always be subject to the right of appeal of such applicant to the Board of Directors:"

Article Five, Section One, -

"In order to carry out the objective of the Foundation, the Board of Directors, or a committee appointed by it, may receive, invest and reinvest, all funds and property of the Foundation, and may loan or otherwise advance to any applicant for assistance such funds as may be deemed proper and adequate for the accomplishment of the purposes of said applicant and of this Foundation."

Article Five, Section Two, -

"Any member of the Marriner W. Merrill Family, either by blood or marriage, and whether

the same be a member of the Corporation or not, shall be entitled to borrow and receive from the Foundation such sums and amounts of money, and upon such terms, and at such rate of interest, as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe, which money, however, shall be used for the sole and exclusive purpose of assisting said applicant in attendance at such school, college, university, or special training institution, wherever located, and for the purpose of educational, religious, professional, scientific, literary, artistic, vocational, or similar branches of learning; provided, nevertheless, that said Board of Directors, or the committee appointed by it, shall at all times have complete power and discretion in determining whether the loan shall be made, and if made the amount, length of time, rate of interest, and other conditions of said loan, always bearing in mind the amount of funds for such purpose, the number of applicants, and the expense incident thereto, with the objective of equitably dividing available funds for the aid of all applicants.”

Article Five, Section Three, -

“Said Board may also in its discretion assist any applicant to borrow at any bank or trust company for any of the purposes recited in Section two hereof, and the officers of this Corporation shall have the power to endorse or sign with said applicant any note at any such bank or trust company for such purposes and pledge as security for the payment thereof such asset of said Foundation as it may deem advisable and make such requirements of said applicant as it may deem proper.”

The only oral testimony received at the hearing was that of A. L. Merrill, called as a witness on behalf of the

Foundation (T. 8-12). Mr. Merrill is the President of the Marriner W. Merrill Family Foundation, Inc. During his testimony it was stipulated (T. 10) "That to date hereof there has been contributed to said corporation by interested members the total sum of \$1,628.00. Two loans have been made to students for educational purposes: one to the grand-daughter of a sister of a wife of Marriner W. Merrill, but the grand-daughter, I understand, is not a descendent of any member of the family, for the purpose of studying nursing in Salt Lake City; and another loan to a great-grandson of Marriner W. Merrill for his education at the Utah State Agricultural College."

Mr. Merrill further testified (T. 10) that "The Affidavit is broad enough to permit the loaning of money to any descendent of a husband or a wife who subsequently married a member of the Merrill Family. This is so, even though such a person be not a descendent of Marriner W. Merrill."

On page 11 of the Transcript is found the following:

"MR. DAY: The beneficiary does not necessarily have to be a member of the corporation.

"MR. MERRILL: No, the beneficiaries are not members of that. They don't have to be members of the corporation, and in these instances are not members of the corporation.

“The money is donated with the understanding as provided in the Affidavit and By-Laws without any refund or return to the donors of any kind or character, or by way of interest or dividends or otherwise; and that money is used exclusively in the future for the purpose of loaning money to students within the qualifications mentioned to go to college in any part of the world. And the objective of the Foundation is to provide for educational development of individuals that the Board of Directors may determine are within the rights under the Affidavit to make the loan.

“I believe that is all.

“MR. ALLEN: Counsel for the Commission will stipulate to the statement with the exception of the limitation that donors who are participants in the Affidavit itself may receive benefits from the corporation.

“MR. MERRILL: I agree that there might be some instances where a donor might have a loan made to him, but he would have to pay it back just as anyone else. He would never receive it as a dividend or a refund of any amount he had ever paid.

“MR. DAY: That last statement, may we have it understood, is testimony under oath and not part of the stipulation.”

The issue involved is whether or not the Marriner W. Merrill Family Foundation, Inc. is an exempt corporation under the provisions of Section 59-13-4, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

It is the position of the appellant that the Foundation is for the purpose of receiving gifts, devises, bequests, or other properties from any donor to be used for the purpose of loaning or otherwise advancing money or property on such terms as the Board of Directors might determine to any and all descendents and husbands or wives of such descendents of Marriner W. Merrill for educational uses in any school, college, university, or special training institution in any part of the world. The loans are not restricted to members of the corporation and there is no return to any donor, either of principal, or interest, or dividend. The Foundation is solely for educational and charitable uses and for no other purpose.

It is, therefore, claimed that this corporation is exempt under the laws of the State of Utah.

## POINT I.

THE MARRINER W. MERRILL FAMILY FOUNDATION, INC.  
IS EXEMPT AS A CORPORATION ORGANIZED AND  
OPERATED FOR CHARITABLE PURPOSES.

As an exemption from the Corporation Franchise Tax imposed by the State of Utah, Section 59-13-4, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides as follows:

“The following corporations are exempt from the provisions of this chapter, to wit:

“ \* \* \*

“(4) Corporations and any Community Chest, Fund or Foundation, organized and operated exclusively for religious, charitable, scientific, literary or educational purposes, or for the

prevention of cruelty to children or animals, no part of the net earnings of which inures to the benefit of any private stockholder or individual.”

It is submitted that the Marriner W. Merrill Family Foundation, Inc. is organized and carried on for charitable and educational purposes within the above statute.

This statute is an exact copy of Section 101 (6) Internal Revenue Code which exempts organizations from income tax under the Federal Income Tax Laws. This section of the Utah Code, as far as we have been able to determine, has not been construed by the Courts in any manner applicable herein. However, the Federal Statute has been, in numerous instances, considered by the Courts.

The best definition of charity in this regard is found in the case of *Bok vs. McCaughn*, 42 F. 2d 616. In this case, an association was formed to accept gifts and donations; and to, in turn, recognize and reward by payment of \$10,000.00 the person selected each year as the one whose act or service was most advantageous to the City of Philadelphia or its inhabitants.

The Court, on page 618, is quoted as follows:

“Charity, derived from the Latin Caritas, originally meant love. In the thirteenth chapter of First Corinthians the revised version uses the word “love in defining the third of the three cardinal virtues which, in King James’ version read “Faith, Hope and Charity.” It was with

similar emphasis on the motive which prompts action that Mr. Binney framed his approved definition of a charitable trust in his argument in the Girard will case: "Whatever is given for the love of God, or the love of your neighbor, in the catholic and universal sense, given from these motives and to these ends, free from the stain or taint of every consideration that is a personal, private, or selfish." *Vidal v. Girard's Executors*, 2 How. 128, 11 L. Ed. 205 (1844) which is quoted by the Supreme Court in *Ould v. Washington Hospital*, 95 U.S. 311, 24 L. Ed. 450. Charity means such unselfish things as are wont to be done by those who are animated by the virtue of love. Thus the Supreme Court of the United States, following Chancellor Kent, Lord Lyndhurst, and Lord Camden, has defined a charitable trust as "a gift to a general public use which extends to the poor as well as to the rich." *Perin v. Carey*, 24 How. 506, 16 L. Ed. 701 (1860). So, also, Mr. Justice Gray speaking for the Supreme Court of Massachusetts in *Jackson v. Phillips*, 14 Allen 556 (1867), declared a charitable gift to be one "for the benefit of an indefinite number of persons, either by bringing their minds or hearts under the influence of education or religion, by relieving their bodies from disease, suffering or constraint, by assisting them to establish themselves in life, or by erecting or maintaining public buildings or works or otherwise lessening the burdens of government."

"It cannot be doubted that Mr. Bok's gift was a charitable gift as the word "charitable" is used and understood by courts and lawmaking bodies. What he did was done for the love of his neighbors in the community which he had adopted as his home. Every activity recognized by the awards that have been made is an activity for the promo-

tion of which a charitable trust might be created. A trust for popular education in music, or for making higher education accessible to the many, or for stimulating American patriotism by recalling the unselfish sacrifices of the fathers, or for the relief of human suffering through new and improved surgical methods, or for the encouragement of craftsmanship, or for the beautification of a city, would be a charitable trust tested by any of the definitions which the authorities supply. And if a trust for the promotion of any one of these interests would be a charitable trust, it follows that a foundation to promote all of them is a trust that partakes of the nature of each.”

It should be noted furthermore that charity is not confined to the financial aid of the poor or indigent, but may be devoted to increasing and fostering qualities of industry, loyalty, persistence or for the desire for education and general betterment of individuals as citizens. All of these are clearly for the public good and for the advancement and protection of society. A short definition of “charitable” in its legal sense in construing statutes of this type has been frequently set out as “some public benefit open to an indefinite number of persons.” Public benefits, however, cannot be given a narrow construction such as would confine it to cases where a person is taken off the State relief rolls, or where an orphan is taken out of a state orphan institution. Public benefit embraces a much wider and all inclusive meaning, and is set forth in the Bok case above. In the case of Harrison

v. Barker Annuity Fund, 90 F. 2d 286 (C.C.A.7.) the Court was dealing with a corporation primarily devoted to the granting of pensions to employees of a specified corporation. The Court says, on page 288:

“In the present cases neither the appellee nor the donor was a beneficiary or interested either directly or indirectly in the dissolved company. The persons to whom annuities were paid were those who had remained loyal in the service of the retired company and who had proved their steadfastness of character by long years of service. Elements taken into consideration were years of service, age, marital status and the offspring of the persons to whom annuities should be paid, and at the time annuitants became the recipients they must have reached the ordinarily allotted span of life in order to receive in their old age their rewards for fidelity, steadfastness and persistence in industry. For this purpose the donor was inspired to create the fund and to reward them by annuities. The inevitable effect of such action was to encourage, generally, among employers, the desire to promote similar rewards for the qualities mentioned and, among employees, industry, persistence of effort, and loyalty. Clearly such purposes are charitable as Congress has used the word in the exemption statutes, as the Courts have construed the same.

“ \* \* \* \* \*

“Appellant insists that appellee was not operated exclusively for exempt purposes. But we have observed that many purely charitable organizations were beneficiaries in the fund and that the only question as to exemption of all funds is that urged as to the sums paid out in the form of

annuities. And we have seen that the purpose of the latter payments were praiseworthy and the inevitable effect the encouragement and promotion of habits upon the part of employer and employees, tending to the greater good of the whole body politic. The fact that some annuitant may not need the pension is immaterial, just as in one of the cited cases the fact that persons who had performed unusual services and thus would become entitled to rewards might not need the same. There is no taint of personal or selfish motives. The donor gained nothing except to promote a plan of just reward to persons to whom she owed nothing, for virtues worthy of emulation in people generally; to satisfy a desire to see that loyal employees should be rewarded and not live in want or indigent circumstances."

It should be further understood, as set out in the Harrison case just cited, that a statute providing for exemption from taxes of corporations or foundations for relief, charitable, scientific, literary or educational purposes will be liberally construed, since exemption is a matter of grace, and an act of public justice. In other words, when dealing with the question of exemption, or a corporation organized for these purposes, the general rule that the exemptions must be specific, clear and unequivocal does not apply and the statute should be given a liberal interpretation in order to more completely realize its basic aim. *C. F. Mueller Co. v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue*, (C.C.A. 3) 190 F. 2d 120; *U. S. v. Proprietors of Social Law Library* (C. C. A. 1) 102 F 2d. 481.

The restriction of the beneficiaries to a designated group or class does not deny the exempt classification. In the editorial comment found in C. C. H. (Custom Clearing House, Inc.) Federal Tax Reporter Section 656.02, it is said:

“As to charitable organizations the department announced that the term ‘charitable’ in its legal sense ‘contemplates some public benefit open to an indefinite number of persons.’ Accordingly, an association organized and operated for the purpose of administering a fund which was to be used for the benefit of those who made regular contributions, thereto, or their dependents, was not exempt. (S. M. 3028, IV-1 CB 215). Similiar holdings were made S. M. 5699 (V-1 CB 80) and G. C. M. 1268 (VI-1 CB 83). On the other hand, the Board held that the exemption was not intended to apply to ‘public charities’ only, stating: ‘We do not think that the mere restriction of the beneficiaries of an otherwise charitable corporation to a designated group or class is sufficient ground upon which to deny exempt classification.’” \* \* \* Following that decision the Commissioner in G. C. M. 19028 (1937-2 CB 125) ruled that an employees’ organization administering a fund to which the employees contributed a minor portion was exempt.”

There are innumerable cases wherein the designation of charitable organizations was given to group of associates designed for the benefit of a special exclusive group. In Y.M.C.A. Retirement Fund, Inc., 18 B.T.A. 139, and Rike, 18 B.T.A. 149, a corporation to provide retirement annuities for superannuated or disabled secretaries

of the Y.M.C.A. which derives its funds from public contributions and from volunteer contributions of associates and members of the Y.M.C.A., no part of which inured to the benefit of any private individual, was exempt. This ruling was acquiesced in by the Treasury Department. In other words, a group was charitable when its sole purpose was to provide retirement salaries for secretaries of the Y.M.C.A. We submit there can be no more clearly defined or exclusive group of beneficiaries than these.

In G. C. M. 19028, 1937-2 CB 125 the General Counsel of the Treasury Department held that an organization engaged in administering a fund consisting of amounts contributed by the employees and the employers and others, for financial relief of employees or their families, (police officers) is a charitable organization if the employee beneficiaries contribution to the fund represents a minor portion of the corporation's income. This ruling revoked S. M. 3028 (IV-1, CB 80) which denied exemption where benefits were limited to a prescribed class of employees of a certain manufacturer, and G. C. M. 1268 (VI-1, CB 83), which denies exemption where benefits were confined to members of the association and were dependent on regular payment of dues, and where payments of benefits was not discretionary.

The Treasury Department has also acquiesced in the case of Sibley, 16 B.T.A. 915, which declared a corporation operated solely to expend sick and disability aid to

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