1954

Marriner W. Merrill Family Foundation, Inc v. The State Tax Commission of Utah : Defendant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Tax Commission believes that the Statement of Facts as set forth in plaintiff's brief is generally accurate and conforms to our understanding and interpretation of the Affidavit of Incorporation, the By-laws and the method of doing business of this taxpayer. By way of clarification, however, and in the hope of not being burdensomely repetitive, we would like to set forth in a cursory manner the facts which substantiate and support the decision of the Commission heretofore entered. They are as follows:

A. From the Affidavit of Incorporation the following purposes are set forth:

1. The investments and assets of the corporation

are to be used "for loaning or otherwise advancing money and property." (Tr. 24).

2. "For loaning or otherwise advancing money and property . . . to any and all descendents . . . of Marriner W. Merrill." (TR-24)

3. "To aid and assist financially in the training of any member of the family." (TR-24)

B. The following methods and restrictions on conducting the business of the corporation are taken from the By-laws of the corporation:

1. "The Board of Directors is given the power to loan or otherwise advance . . . funds for the accomplishment of the purposes of the foundation." (Tr. 18).

2. "Any member of the Marriner W. Merrill family is entitled to borrow and receive from the foundation money as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe." (Tr. 18).

C. Transcript testimony showed, and Mr. Merrill so testified, that the Affidavit of Incorporation was broad enough to permit the loaning of money to any descendent of Marriner W. Merrill by blood or by marriage. (Tr. 10).

Mr. Merrill also testified that a donor or a member of the corporation might have a loan made to such donor and it would seem a fair inference to say that members of the corporation could therefore receive any or all benefits afforded by the corporation. (Tr. 10-11).

We would like to draw the Court's attention, first, to the fact that there is not one bit of evidence in the Affidavit of Incorporation, in the By-laws or in the testimony which would indicate that the corporation has given away any-

thing of value in the past, that it presently intends to give anything away or that the board or any officer of the corporation has the power to give away any of the assets of the corporation and, second, that there is no limitation or definition upon the word "education" in any of the formative documents of the corporation and it would therefore appear that the board of directors has the exclusive and sole power to determine the application of the word "education" in the operation of the business of the corporation.

It is, therefore, the position of the Commission that this corporation is organized exclusively for the purpose of making loans and receiving the increments therefrom in the form of interest for the purpose of perpetuating the economic level of a narrow, selfish and restricted group and as such, it is a taxable entity in the state of Utah for franchise tax purposes.

POINT I

IF THE MARRINER W. MERRILL FAMILY FOUNDATION, INC. IS ORGANIZED AND OPERATED FOR CHARITABLE PURPOSES, IT IS TAXABLE UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE CORPORATION FRANCHISE TAX ACT.

The plaintiff herein has argued extensively and persuasively that a charitable institution is exempt from taxation under the provisions of our act. We concur in their reasoning and in the authorities which they have cited, but we believe, and the evidence indicates, that the Marriner W. Merrill Family Foundation, Inc. is not organized for, nor intended to pursue, charitable activities as the term is understood in Anglo-Saxon Jurisprudence. The plaintiff has attempted without reference to the facts

of its operation but with extensive free use of authority to show what is a charity. The oft-quoted case of *Bok vs. McCaughn*, 42 F 2d, 616, states in part that charity is “whatever is given for the love of God or the love of your neighbor in the catholic or universal sense, given from these motives and to these ends free from the strain or taint of every consideration that is personal, private or selfish.” This is the accepted definition of the term “charity” as we understand the term and which has been followed quite universally in construing acts similar to the one here under consideration.

Conceding *arguendo* that the Marriner W. Merrill Family Foundation, Inc. is a “charity” we believe that the very testimony of one of the original incorporators who conceived this organization removes it from exemption under our act. You will recall that Section 59-13-4 (4) provides in part that “. . . no part of the net earnings of which [the corporation] inure to the benefit of any *private shareholder or individual*.” Mr. Merrill, however, has already testified that a donor of the corporation could receive any of the benefits of such corporation. He, of course, could not testify otherwise because the Affidavit of Incorporation and the By-laws of the corporation clearly make the assets of the corporation and any increments thereto available to *any* of the descendants of Marriner W. Merrill. Obviously, and the affidavit so indicates, the incorporators and the donors of this corporation are such descendants and, consequently, any charitable function engaged in or pursued by this corporation *could* inure to the benefit of any or all of the private shareholders of the corporation or other individuals or of the donors of the fund created in the corporation. We are, of course,

not concerned here as to what the corporation will or won't do, but only what the corporation *can do* by the provisions of its Affidavit—by the business purpose or pursuit it is licensed or permitted by its franchise to do. See *American Investment Corporation v. State Tax Commission et al.*, 101 Utah 189, and 1938-1 CB 168.

This situation, of course, that is, where the private shareholders, individuals or donors of the alleged charitable organization could receive the increments and benefits of the funds, takes such organization out of the exempt category it might otherwise be in. See *Scholarship Endowment Foundation v. Nicholes*, 106 Fed 2d 552. The obvious purpose in forming this type of an institution is to enable the donors to obtain a tax benefit and a deduction on their personal tax returns from the contributions made to the corporation which contributions if made direct to the donors would not otherwise be deductible for tax purposes. In other words, if the donors of the corporation made loans directly to their sons, daughters, grandsons, etc., such loans or gifts would not be deductible for tax purposes for the very reason that they are of a private and selfish nature. The founders of this corporation are merely attempting to accomplish indirectly and by means of the corporate veil and structure what they cannot do directly—they are certainly not concerned with the \$10.00 yearly tax paid to Utah—the state creating the entity.

We would like to repeat and emphasize that if the plaintiff is a charitable organization, any of the participants in the corporation by way of shareholders, individuals or donors may receive any and all benefits from the corporation and, consequently one of the primary requirements set forth in the statute entitling the corporation to the

privilege of exempt status for corporation franchise tax purposes is not fulfilled or complied with.

POINT II

THE MARRINER W. MERRILL FAMILY FOUNDATION, INC., IS A CORPORATION ORGANIZED TO MAKE LOANS AND, THEREFORE, IS NOT EXEMPT FROM THE PAYMENT OF THE CORPORATION FRANCHISE TAX.

For a corporation to be exempt from the corporation franchise tax of the state of Utah, such corporation must be organized so as to fall under one of the subdivisions of Section 59-13-4, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. The taxpayer has contended that, in their instance, the following subsection (4) of the afore-cited statute is applicable:

“Corporations and any community chest, fund or foundation, organized and operated exclusively for religious, charitable, scientific, literary or educational purpose . . . no part of the net earnings of which inures to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual” (see 59-13-4, U.C.A., 1953).

This statute requires that a corporation, to come within and be entitled to this exemption must, first, be organized and operated exclusively for religious, charitable, scientific, literary or educational purposes, and, second, none of the net earnings can inure to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual. To ascertain if this corporation is organized pursuant to the foregoing provision of our code, we must determine if the Affidavit of Incorporation or the By-laws, as filed, so limit the operation that the aforesaid requirements are met. See *American Investment Corp. vs. State Tax Comm. et al* 101 Utah 189.

Of course, it is well to note here that for a corporation to be exempt from payment of the tax, it must clearly come within the provisions of the statute as set forth, for such exemption provisions are strictly construed against the corporation. *Norville vs. State Tax Comm.* 98 Utah 170, *Equitable Life & Casualty vs. State Tax Comm.* Utah (1952), 112 ALR 1441.

The affidavit of the Marriner W. Merrill Family Foundation, Inc., discloses that the corporation is organized solely and exclusively for the following purposes and with the following limitations on its method of conducting its business:

- a. The investments and assets of the corporation are to be used for *loaning* or *otherwise advancing* money and property.
- b. To any and all descendants . . . of Marriner W. Merrill.
- c. To aid and assist financially in the training of any member of the family.

The By-laws provide for the administration of the assets of the taxpayer for such loaning purposes under the following restrictions and limitations:

- a. The Board of Directors is given the power to loan or otherwise advance . . . funds for the accomplishment of the purposes of the foundation.
- b. Any member of the Marriner W. Merrill Family is entitled to borrow and receive from the foundation money as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe.

To support the foregoing and in affirmance thereof,

Mr. Merrill testified that the affidavit of incorporation was broad enough to permit the *loaning* of money to any descendant of Marriner W. Merrill by blood or by marriage.

We believe that the foregoing purposes and methods of operation of this corporation indicate clearly and without ambiguity that it is organized for one purpose, and one purpose only, and that is to *loan* or to *otherwise advance* money and property.

As such, and being confined to a method of operation which prohibits it from divesting itself of its assets by any method, we believe the corporation does not in substance constitute a corporation entitled to exemption under the ordinary concepts applicable in such instance. Much has been written on the equitable philosophy of exemption and it has appeared to us that the editors and writers on the subject make a basic justification for such exemption on the premise and on the condition that such exemption should be founded upon the general good which accrued to the public as a whole; that such use or activity is one which is ordinarily engaged in by the sovereign or substantially and realistically furthers the moral uplifting of society, not in a selfish and restricted field, but in the broad social sense.

The explanation of the basis of such exemption is usually phrased as follows:

“One class of tax exemptions more or less uniformly provided in the United States concerns private agencies performing functions which in the absence of such agencies would have to be undertaken by the public. The most common instance of such private agencies performing public functions

is charitable and educational institutions to some extent health agencies, usually on a charitable basis, are also involved. It is commonly accepted that if, in the absence of a private enterprise, taxation would be necessary in order to discharge a needed function, the state may properly subsidize the Institution which performs the service. A common method of subsidy is through tax exemption. (See General Theory of Tax Exemption, by the Tax Policy League, page 17).

The construction of the words of the statute should be impressed with such a philosophy. The corporation here, of course, is engaged only in *loaning* or *otherwise advancing* money or property. It is predicated upon the commercial formula of investing capital and realizing the ultimate return thereof together with the increment of interest. The foundation here does not *give* anything for the "Love of Giving." This common formula and method of conducting an enterprise certainly does not fall within the spirit and intendment of exemptions from taxation as they are understood under our law. On the contrary, the purpose of this corporation smacks wholly of an enterprise pursued with the selfish and private incentive of accumulating money and property coupled with the economic and social perpetuation of one individual's descendants.

Clearly, a loaning institution does not come within the letter, spirit wording or clear intendment of the foregoing statute.

POINT III.

LIMITING THE LOANS OR ADVANCES OF THE FOUNDATION FOR PURPOSES OF EDUCATION DOES NOT MAKE THE CORPORATION ORGAN-

IZED FOR EDUCATIONAL PURPOSES AND THEREFORE IT IS NOT AN EXEMPT ORGANIZATION UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 59-13-4 (4), U. C. A., 1953.

As noted herein, the purpose of the Corporation is to make loans and advances to descendants of Marriner W. Merrill for educational purposes. Is the limitation labeled "education" on the loans such as would allow the exemption? We can find no precedents which would in any manner support this position, and the Courts have indicated that institutions claiming this exemption must have as its *primary* and *direct* purpose "education." Let's take first the citations given by the taxpayer's counsel on page 22 and page 23 of their memorandum. They are as follows:

"A corporation organized to maintain a band for giving free public concerts and the promotion of musical art is exempt as an educational institution, the terms not being confined to colleges and schools (I.T. 1475, I-2 C.B. 184). This bulletin of the Income Tax Division of the Internal Revenue Bureau goes on to say that the fostering of an appreciation or a desire of good music and of the promotion of musical art are actually of an educational nature.

"An association organized and operated exclusively for giving musical concerts was exempt as educational. (S.M. 1176, I.C.B. 147).

"The National Tax Association is exempt, being organized and operated exclusively for scientific and educational purposes (special rule, February 11, 1939, 393 C.C.H., Par. 6180).

"College students league, organized to bring about an open-minded consideration of social, in-

dustrial, political and international questions, was exempt as exclusively educational (I.I. 1224, I-1 C.B. 256)."

It is pertinent to note that every one of these organizations cited above actually *participated* and *engaged* in "education" as such. The corporation, on the other hand, does not itself participate in "education" and is not formed for that purpose. It has been dedicated for the sole purpose of making loans so that descendants of Marriner W. Merrill may attain higher education. All of the citations we find are along the same vein—that is, *the organization itself*, to qualify for an exemption for educational purposes, *has been actually engaged in the educational activity*—not the remote purpose of making of loans so that certain restricted persons *could attain* an education. It seems to us that such loaning activity is too far removed from the educational purpose contemplated by the statute and all of the precedents we have read would certainly indicate this distinction sound.

By way of further analogy, would a textbook manufacturer be deemed organized for educational purposes? It would seem that education in this instance would be secondary and incidental. And the same would be true of corporations organized to manufacture uniforms, supplies, desks and innumerable other items necessary and essential to our educational system. Of course, such corporations would be organized for profit purposes and therefore not exempt, but the point is, that the basic structure is secondary to education and educational purposes. The same is true of this Corporation, the main feature and primary purpose being to provide a source of funds for loans to enable the descendants of Marriner W. Merrill to

seek higher education, not in the first instance for education as such. Another strong analogy would be that of conforming the purpose of this business corporation to any lending institution—that is—their primary purpose is to make loans, while what the money is to be used for is strictly secondary and incidental to the primary purpose of making such loans.

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